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LJ. 

This is an i ntervie>:·;r frro. •l.;]l o~ccl J-Ijc·:..C>.rf hrj.::cl; o1' 
the Kennedy L:itbrary ui-::h Ck ·Jer:. S. i. u:·:pby· , ;).llkl' 

Secretary of Agricu1tm·e. ~?he pl.",.ce 5.s thL J -l;'B.J.'t­
ment of Agriculture, W~shilJ on, D. C. The :l.lte1·­
vie1..rer is George A. Barnes. 

Q. l.fr. Murphy, you h8:ve been in Uashi:J.g ben o.nd a po..r·t o:t' the goverr ment . 

rr...achinery ~ both in the Legislative and the ~I:!AXEfCUti· Te branches ' for 

rather · a lo.ng · time~. Would you .like . to tell us hm; this career of · 

federal serv:i.ce began?. ' 

A. I thin.lt it might be useful to star t out l'y saying that I ara a la-uyer. 
, 

I gr~duated from lau school at Du1;:e l.Jnivcrs:i.ty in 1931~, o.p.d in the 

fall of that year came to ~vashi •ston to vrork as a legislative; draftL 1.an 

J. in the office of the Senate LesioJ.ativc C<.Al1!.1el~ (That is au office 

that performs drafting service~ for all Senators and Scnc.te Corranittc .; • 1 

I· ·uorked in that office until Jc;.nupcy of 191~7, a.t which time I vent 

to the White House as an adrainlst~.·ut;i\11..! acsbtant to Presid.cr1t T-.tl'' n 

I ha.d come to 1~'1m-T President Truman uhile he 1vas a membe:r of the St:.n.vl; ;, 
' 

end as a legislative drafts:man I did d efting vortt. fo1• l.d.w. fro:ul tirne 

to time. I served as an adm:i.n:lst.:cativa r ssistan.t to the Pl:esidcnt .'ol' 

l>h.t.ee years, and then in Janur..:..;j• ur F t.J:i.U:!.';'i of' ).~.50 VPJl J)'!?(>r(,o·ted tu 

the position of Special Counsel '.,;o the ::.>:-~·~.:::::ident vhe~ce I se:cved u.utL. 

President Truman left the White HouGe in Jp.ru.;a~ 'Y 1953. .Amow~ o-l~he1~· 

. ·t.!Jings, this work at the Hhite 1 i..1UGe ''!~;;Ces.sa.ril.,v brought me i.a!:;o lt:·0 i:::-

lative poli cy guestio1i:::, and t11 t j,n t1U'n into polit:i.ca.l issu~";;s. I 

quired so;nc backgraun•J. in cw ,, ·, a J ··n that uay. 
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most of the tim.e that I p:rac·ciccd lau I I"TO.fJ speci:.-1 .. 1· euun&cl ·i;o •. he 

Democratic National Connnittee, first Clnring the chr.:l.:rma..l1Ghil) f 

Steve lfrltchell, and later during the chairmanship :? Paul Butler. 

In this· connection I -vrorked 1lith. Paui Butler in e::;tabB.shing the 

Detnocratic M.visory Council (which v~as done; as I recall, about 1955), 
' . 

vThich was an effor£ to dra~·r on the intellectnal :cesaurccs of the 
~ 

D~ocratic Party and sharpen up· issues i n t rying to fo:rlimlate poJ.j_cy 
.,_ 

for the party~ Thd.s produced almost automatically some rive~ry 
. ' 

. ·, :. 1 - • 

·· 1'Tith s·ome of the congressional Democratic leadership. Houever, a . 

.. · .. 

very distinguished f.>'l'OUP of Den:tocrats did parttcipate in the uork 

of this Advisory Council. Its membership included for c:xample: 

President Truman, Governor Adlai Stevenson, l!ir.s . Elearwr Roosevelt, 

and a good many others • They met tvro or three or i'our times a year:. 

' . 
I think this is of importance in connection i:·r:t th President Kennedy, 

as ·well as t he Democratic party as· a· whole~ becaus~ I thinl-;: it had 

a profound influence in keeping the Democratic Party on the liberal . . . .. . . r 
side of the issues during that particular period in qu.r hictory. In 

this 1-rork it ~·ras natm•al that I -vmuld continue to he in touch -1vith 

people 1·rho w·ere active in Democratic politics, including members qf 

the Senate--Sene,tor Kennedy and others. Thir. 1TaG. uhen ·I first got 

to knOi·T Senator Kennedy. I had ln'lmm of h:im. v7hen :'1c was a member · 

of the House of Representatives. I actu.ally got to know him while 

he w-as a Senator. I don't remelliber v1hen or vrherc ·\ras · tl.1e first ' · 

time I ever met him; but I did not become intimately ~.ctJ:U"'-inted w·ith 

him. 

·-
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Q. l•1ay I interl~upt to asJ<.: if he was r;~. J' ibe · o:f o··· v'-'1.' ... zd. 1ri .t~ tl ~· 
-~· 

Democratic Advisory Co~nittee? 

A. My recollection of thv.t is not c1ca::c. It! ·uhc l.l.ter st~ g pc:..rl >G 

. Q. 

in 1960 as w·ell as I can recall, the Democrat~ that 

mentioned as potential President1al candidates 1'Te1•e invited to I .·tic-

ipate in the work of this council--Democratic Ac1.viGory Cvuncil it 1ra::., 

called--and my· recollection iS that he did. part:tciJ!:.-.te nlthau.gh n.c..t 

very much=-to o. rather limited extent. · Senator Ke:C'auver, I think, 

participated more.' One of the stal1<rarts ' of that activity, by the wa.y, 

vras Kermeth Galbraith ~·rho 1·ras · the chairman o our most general sllb-

committee--the subcommittee that hano..les everything tha·!; other 
. . I 

specialized subcammi ttees dicl not handle. 

This council :functioned right up to the time of the 1960--sta.:ct of 

' the 1960 campaign? , ' 
j, 
!( 

A. Up until the 'time of the convention it did~· . Before the conveatiorf 
I 

it began to have ·relationships· or. to do staff vrork with the staff of 

the potential ?-residential candidates--cons:tde:d.ng the :preparation 

of material for the piatform, considering the arrang ,·nents for the. 

convention, and considering the arrangements th9.t had to' be rru.k'\. -
' . 

before the conventio~ 'for the campai gn that ·was to be cd.rried. on l t(;.;l'. 

It is necessary, apparently, in modern campaigning to enter ' into 

contracts f'ar enough< in advance so thatsome of the contrac:ts fm: 
{ 

services to be rendered during the campaign in the fall had to be 

made before the conv~ntion, anc1 before it wns kno>,n vrho tne can Udv.te 

' 
i·rould be. I :centemb.,;:t' ·t;h".t Ted Gorens&a 1-TD.:J d ... :ri {,natcc1 bJ & l1L• 'JI' 

Kennedy as· his representative to · vmrl: ;·rith tne Democ.~.·[t.tic N;;dJl m·:tl 

Com::nittee and Advisory Council in conneettc rl 1ritll -Lhese JLl tU. '·· . 
OJ 0 

l 
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( o £..: th:L oJ I' a. lik . t 

c.oou.t 1.1:.o the n " 

to ·;;,E:ll--I lT<-'S 7e· y clo. '- l . 

. intirra.te .:CricnJ.~ ~ :J - ... e; 

I ~las ever c ble to · J . .L, 1 ._ 

ona ~; y o:c the othcJ. • H 1. 

tre.d;ment to arry d1ndidace. 1 c. 

or to impede them d.1 CO, rJ. c,1 .:.SC n 

Johnson, Adlai Steve .. .r-n, CJ. 

I i.ght be of' interest. In l~1JS 

75th bil·thday, and he agrec.:l ·lon ..... , ll 

) ..... 

, . 
1 l L ~..: L 

'- • t . .r. . l ' 

• > ..... . 

di 

vJ 

meens for. doing this ~1a.s by a. 1. .. · -d r u.; L \; · c. ..1 ~ ) • 1. ,, • ., 

l1ad, :for this, d.:Lf:t 2:-r~Grrt CJ. t..:.c. 1.. ' . L c1 I' ' ... l·~ l ~~- r. c . 
in.:.,nton, He1r Yorlc City, Chicago .J, .I.. .... I .I c r, 't 1 b~.£' l• v ... > 

' 
... 

uhat the charge \"[' .} ) l)C:r'YY')::. <' 0 te I• ... Gf' l! 

t.l1d possibJ:'y *100 in GCJ .e 1L0 I! ~ .L , l 

' 
I l'CCall, wan in Con '·.o.t.t..LH .. n '• . I '. 1 ' l 1., 

~ 
~ ..... IJ!. . L. ~ • ,, -

cli...'1ll e:r • In making the ]_.. .. (.. Ql' 1'1 l'l t· . u .... 10.tvl . ~\) ~ 1 ... , 
pa:~ty in Boston . I! the c~:.·ly n·t. to th . .lL ..... ·- ' 

I " 
in Boston ·Fere not coing n.:.r;:l co 1,; 

Senator K~nnedy to sec if 1"' r l 1J ~, t...> l 

oston .for 'liD 1 t [ 1 

o...ld. H ... l, 1 ~ • 

.. 
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' o It i'iaS done, d.nd. it ra.., "· toocl 1 , 1 .Lv 
,(.> 

11 1 ,. ..(.. ,_,-t;..,_o ts. I L~.ve in roy f:ilr>, ··10te, 0.~ 

in vhich I ;;-r.rote him shor'G.ly £ tJ_ .« .... t..... ,,! 

he acknot·rledged the le-i.,te): I rent; to him. don't.. thl... : 

else that relo.tes to this })!'CC.vlllf~;.olltiol. r ~. ~ l pe ticu1 Y • 

Q. During. this time, ~his pre: co t :t. on· pc:r. o ~ ,) ou. \r,__.~,·e • • .... i 

the De. O(!rv.tic Ibt:LC:oJl l Gc .1itt-. as I t c- J l 

1 a;t·l, so that in t~1e prima:cy c;"' ... Jt<.dgr1 . h .L t.: u . · .~.·(.. .L'"" 

candidates, JOU were in a totelly m:ut:s.·a1 · /)dtion. 

·A •. That is true, I tms tot::tlly nentJ:·~ l. T 

to time t :r.e.t I was uo.!.'ldng for the canc:tidc.c u_. I., t on Jo•ms 1 bE.; J 

the cmwention. That, houever, in ilot the ca..,e. J: \,r..L ; c.-.S y 

indicated, as;:;oci&..t .... d. ui't;h the IJL..OCJ:.'i:l. lC .1: .... clU!lLl (; .. ltte , t i 

because of that ;·me ~equired Lo be, and il'E'...; ~ l'~ctJ 

;o l.d. Lo 1·1 .. t. 

night cu..ll the preconvention l)eriod, up to Lte 

itself. Here you pre.sent in Lo& Pn .. ll.S? 

:mittec i·.rithou· any partic1..Llttr v .• : .., ... c. • • c l 

to the chair;.w.n in ca:::c of nt:Ld. At v u; .. ) I 

function t:.at I 1ras caJ.J..ed out t1y·1·a to pc . ) w 1 ,.; t_, . ·~ ·Vl! 
.t 

clc.~. k." It developed. at aJ.r;.o .. ;t vl e l<J."' t mi:.1 te ':J.at r.u •.:.•t , 1. 

h Ct b~C.l l _>de fO~C u taJ.ly cJ.e.d.L 11 ..,Q : .• the l'C:CJ. , ·, 0- t ·e r l • 

titli '(.' D, Vt... T r: n, , I 

f(.ll, · .. l,.o ,;,)(;.,. r, . l " .J.,_ l .. 1 



I 
-( 

ourselves the " tally c=Lcrl:s." ~le tc k t.l <:: u!' 1. :i'",l 'tal /' u .. t c 

·• 
roll uas called uhen G(mo:cor Kermedy was no · na;(,c · .• 

Q.. He 1·;as nolliinated on th"" firn·~ ballot. 

A. T'na t' s · JilfY recoJ_lection. 

Q. He:re you ·invol-..red in H:n;y o:L ihe conversations or con. ide:;: .tiom:: '1t 

vrent into his choice of' a Vicc-p:cesident:i.al c,!lldldate·t 

A. No, I \<TaS not. 

Q,. Dv.ri~g the next period of his active co.nc1icl9.cy, running a3ainzt Viec-

F-resident .Hixon, did you remain with the national committee? Diu. you 

move into any role a little closer to the campaign entourage? 

A. '(·Jell, my situation che.nged some. ~ey- :relationship as coUn.sel, or 

special counsel, to the natione.l committee vra.g ter:ininat ed at the 

time of the convention~ Ho~·revcr, I did want to serve as a volm1tecr:-

in the cam.p ign in the fall of' 1960. I vias not in a position to l.;:ra. e.l. 

or to be avmy from Wc.shington for extended periods.·. I had, f'or a ..,.ood 

many years campaigned each tw·o years vrith President 'l'rum.an. In 19g8 

I 1-.ras a1•rcw from Washington -vlith him for six ·vreeks. cluJ:>ing the campaign. 

It -'cm·ned out to be an extre..rnely bad time for me to be av:;;.y from , ry 

family~ and it got to be a very sensitive subject. When 1960 ca-:.~~ 

along I uas in no position to l eave tow:n again. 

Senator Kennedy did have a staff of' his o't>m--a very capable staff. 

· It ->ra.s rather apparent that there would not be a:ny part:tcular rie12d for 

the J::ind of ser •ices I could perform :::o fal~ as his staff wan concerned. 

On the other hand, it s.ppeared that the Vice-Presid.,,:ntial candidate, 

'·• 
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rr.ight ver y uell need.. so1ne additional staff' vo:d~ ih COl.iL~ctio!! 1 1 t.l 
'· 
... 

his ca.,1paign. I voltmtcerecl to ;;ork in tll8 Ua,oh:L.!C~I:on vfJ.'icc t·he/c. 

iiould back up the Vicc-Prc::.dd.cntL 1 c.~.lo5d'.t.tu jn l · , r:' r , .. 

The/c, offer 1·ras accepted ar.d.. I vre.s ask d to SUflCJ:'vi:::- tho n ·· ·.,! ... 

kind for tlle Vice-PresiCJ.ential c~3,nd.idate and. hiH :l.ll.!aC.C:.L te :te:r...::cmal 

staff. That off'ic6 m~~ S(~rt up in the Inven·tr1ent J\lilcl:i.ng, I b(;1.ieve 
I 

i t l'ras, at 15th and K Streets . ~fe had there a staff of' 1Je1·ho:11f~ a 

dozen or so :peopl~, and I devoted substantially f\.111-time vor!: to 

t hat during the campaign. I had .in that of:Lice with me Da11-id Lloyd; 

Kenneth Birlchea.d; Bess Abel:!., who io nmr M.rs. Jolmson r s nccret<n:y; 

Tyler Abell; Lane Kirkland, nov c:ecutive assistant 'Go UcOi~ge Meany; 

Pres ident of the .1\FL-CIO; John Burns, Jr.-, son of the governor of 

Hawaii ; Bi ll 'Uelch, administrative assistant; to Ser ator Hart o:f MicL·lg"n 

- -these are some of those I can recall. 

Dm~ing thE: course of the c~ ··n.J?aign ue found thD.t a e;ood bit o-..:.' the 

factual i nformat ion irhich ,-;e FUlled together by way· of' research 1·:-e.s 

use:ful t o , and used by, the Vice Presiclentia.l candidate. I think tLe 

drafts of speeches He prepared 1-r~re used relatively little. Also, "3 

the campaign "'·rent along President 1"':rulnan began to do some spealr.J.ng, 

and i·re prepared speech drafts in this office to· S(;)ncl to him. l·lc dill 

a few· special assignments for the irumedinte ::;taff of Pre:d.de:nc Kei•nPdf. 

To come back just a little bit, if r::m not miGtP,ken, Presideut 

Truma.n was not one c f thep:r-iginol suppo1 .. ters of t he ct:nd.idacy of' h;n .-J.f 

at least in the cv.rly drty::: 1.-r'l n f:' rr;,tor Ke:nuedy' s nolL.~ \nl.S fir;; t b r 

m .. mtioncd .• 
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Q. Can you shed any l~ght on the President's subsequent su:Jport o · 
• . 

.Mr. Kennedy's ce,nctldac~r? ·~. 

A. liTo, I :really can't. He had a somewhat unhappy e::g?er;i.e:nce fmu­

yea:rs earlier--I guess it was in 1956 at the con.verrtion :l.n ChLages. 

As I .recall, he opposecl the nom~.nation of Governor Stevcnsol .Jho 

\'ffi.S nominated no ·Ti thstandi:a Pres.ident T .u.w . .n' s opposition, e..11d 
I 

after he was nOm.j,nated, President Truman made a speech to the con-

vent ion promising to su_-pport Governor $tevenson. I did ~rorl'- -;d th 

him SOffieifhat. in ,preparing that . speech. Hovrever, in 196o . he ili.d not. 

go to the convention. I was not '"t'lith J:i~1 at the tin'!e he made uhat-

. eve~ statements he made, and I rca~ly don 9 t knmr an;ything about tl~e 
. . . 

backgrmmd, or about his though:ts on the subject othe. "Chan what 

appeared in the public press at · that time. 

Q. As you said, most of your active 1v~rk du:dng the campaign was in 

the office devoted to the needs of the Vice-President. During this 
,. 

period did you have occasion to meet the Presidential candidate? 

A. No. During this time I don't believe I aaw either the Presidential 
I 

candidate or the Vice-Presidential candidate, as a matter of fact. 

' I 

I think I rem~aber that during the course of the crunpaign Pl1 esident 

i ~ . 
T:ruma.11 went to Texas ·and made. a speech on the behalf oi' President 

j 

Kennedy in which he spoke, quite·strongly against religious intoler-

ance, and I did some work. on ,tha·t ·speech with President Tru.m:m. · 

Q. Here you at home in Hashington on election night? 
I . 

A. I'm sure I \fas. I don't have any actual recollection., but some time 

c:go I decided the best place to be on election nlGlrc i·~ e:t. hone. 

'·• 



I' 

-9-

Q. •. Sil·, unless yon have, something more to add in this pe1·iu , vre :l.'t.:!acb. 
--·~-

the period of the P:r~siden"G' s election and ;i.naugm: <J:l:iiop.. Du.1':i.ng thi .:; 

time he mD.de a nrunbeJ.~ of apJ?<?intments to his Cabinet. Orville .fre~.....£t:. 

;ro.s a].Jf'Oi:ated om -at leant the announcement w·a.s 1112-CI.D on Dec(mte·. 15 . 

I beli~ve yoUJ." appointment follovred without much delay~-yottr ar'}}OirL"c""' 

:me:::ri:; as Unde14 Secretary. \'lou.ld you like to give us any light c:a 

considerations that 1r.ren'c into yom~ appointment? 'Vfl1en \vcre you notifl.ed 
. -

of it? ' 

A. ·I-1y recollection i~ that TI'fY appointmeht- .. ·or the. intention to a:ppoin~. me .. 
I 

to Under Secreta:cy--lro-s ar.111ounced on or ~:bout 26 January 1961. 
i 
i 

account of other t hings going on about then, it did not create much 

of a stir in the public press. To ·go. back, clu:ring the campaign I 
.. ,, 

had no intention of going back into government service, nor any partie-
' . I 

ular desire to do so. Actuauy,, I had given· it no thought. Hmrever, 

sho1•tly after the . election I :made an automobile trip 1;;here I sp, .. mt t\·ro 

:fu.ll days dTi ving e.n automobile 1'Ji th '·nothing much to occupy fey' IJ.ti.nd, 

and I began to think about Jche :possibilitJT of going bacl;: into go-vern­

ment service. For various and ' .. sundry reasons, I decided I would be 

interested in tho possi1Jility of being Secretary of Aericnlture vlhieh 

I iias sm:e ... -oulct be a SUf:'pJ::i.sing idea to everyone. lY.~.ainly 'because· I 

thought it iWu.ld be a surprising idea I thought· it was not worth pm.~-

suing v ry v-igorously, and I didn't pursue it. 

llot very long after that Ted Sm•enscn and M.ilce Feldman askecl me 

to vi::dt 't·r.ith them for the pur.oose of telling them what I could. about 

e.i;;:? :.riPncc as Sl'ecio..l C01.msel to the Prc::ddent dul'.'illg the '.cu:nan 

e::c1.mi. :i:::tration. H. hud a very good allu., I hope, ur.uf'u.l vinit on tlw.t 

.. 
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subject. As the me'tting vms bre.J.~r~_ng u:p .Sorenson asked n+e if I ·'tvould .. _ .... ..,.-
"'J. . ' . • ·- .• 

care to come back irito governmen·L ~crvice .... I told him not really . · · 
. . . : .. -\~ . 

He asked if I had gi vcn it ruzy ·thought :... I 'l!old lli'rn I ho.d thc1tt;ilc I 

uould like to be Secretary· of Agric·uJ. tm"e ·but I dian v t think that 
<; 

uouf-d make much sense to anybody Go * he.d fo;g~tten aboil.t ~t.: , Well., 

he agreed that it ~·T~~dn ' t make much Sense ·.to anybody, ·and he . seemed 
.. 

' 
to 1Je 'tdJJ.:tng to f'orget; abouJc .- it too.·· He did say. that_ the President 

~ . ' ' 

had already chosen the man he mis ;goi~~-- to ' appoint '·as Secreta~ - ~f-· 
· ... '., "t· .,. 

Agriculture--this\ -vras _before any announcement had been made bn it--
• f ·-;!'; ,~.·_: : ~~·-· \. ,-. · .. - •. -.·_l '\ ... ·'.: --~- ..,~-~~· ]-:~·- _ .. 

and he also referred to the fact that the· President in . his , camp~ign 

,_., 

' ... (. 

of' being Under Secreta:cy of Agricul tU:r:-e. ,. ,.He ·said he vras calling · without 
·,t .~·· 

maldng ahy offer or aey comrai tment, but this matter had be~n· dis cJ.s_sed · 

't·rith the President-elect, and -the President-elect had 0;sked that he_. 

call me to see hmr I 1-rou.ld feel abm1t it~ I l~arned l ate-r that thi s 
.•· r '· ~ . . 

had come up for discussion with the P~esid.ent_.elect and in t he prese1l.ce 
.~ .. 

' 
of Sorensen, Feldman, a.t"'ld David Bell, ,a.mong other s. David Bell had 

.· 
been my assistant 1-Jhen. I was at the tfhite House, and I feel sure he 

spoke vrell of me in this meeting··~ ~r.hen I ~eceived the phone"call I 
•• ' ' . '. l'. 

firs t said "no" and finally I said I w·ould th:I.nk about it for a few· 
'. 

days, and I did. I t alked to ·my. 1df~ ·abo~t ''it. . She was very reluct~nt 

indeed. for me to agree to do anything. of this kind, but finally, she did. 

c nsent and finally I cu.llet1 back and reported that if the President 

asked me ·.to ta1\:e the job I rJrobably l'TOuld tel~.e it. 

'·• 

• 

'· 



-11-

Then began a s -9leuhs.t :i.ul:.; .t'l. ' ln.,: ::, e ic..; en' c .:r'.t s • '.lne J...·d l. 
'• 

1 

indica·ted throug 1 hi';~ 1..:taff th t I uoul·i l e ld.J t: ,.,st cltvl.' t: r · •. l 1 

' but there 1-ra.s an 'tm.dcrr:r'c~mdi~lC1 t1mt. t.:1.Lr. 1.10s :L tion 1roulJ. e;o t;o a. 

Southerner. Since I had. been in i·b.Dhing l;o~ to:,.• 25 years Ol' m . :ce, th . 

questi on might be raised whcthe!' I i:c-Jlc:l be :r:eGE),rded a8 a Sm:.the:me1·. 
. . 

for this :purpose, a.J.1d secondly tLc P:rr:si.dent-elect said that the li12n 

appointed to this :J;iosition uuct 'be roi"leonr'! who w-as satis:factm:J to 

the neu Secretary of Agricultm·e, Govi.::rnor Freeman. 'l'he question 1:ras 

raised vri th me uh~ther or not S?"u.therne:!.'S would suppo:i.~t ~ appointment 

to this position. I should have had SC'l- e enough at that time not to 
I 

start playing this geme but I ·i·m,s intric,ued. by the ans\llt)l' to tha.t 
. . 

question myself . So I volunteered ·t.o try to find. out • 

. I began to let people kn01r that I was under consideration for this 

job. It then deve.lo-oed that there irere severa.l rather active eandiv..atec 
. - I 

from the South each ·\dth some supporterB--fairly w·ell fraSTilentcd since 

:there 1vere several of them. 'l".b.e other thing that became apparent 1m.s 

' 
that the people from the South i-rho were not already committed to some-

one else iiere generally wtlling to support my appointment vi?-th varying 

degrees of enthusiasm. I think it enled up that I was 'supported. as 

fii~st choice by perhaps a majority of people in prominen positions in 

the South--Senators, Members of the House, those vho took ztnterest and 

second choice of e. good many other peopJ.e . 

I also had an opportunity to meet and. talk 1vi th Governor Freeman 

about this. He i ndicatecl that he m:.mld be glad for me to be appointed 

to this position. 

•.-.. 
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I didr11 t s t art o~1t t o seck tlrLG po:/ tion, cu· . hiJ y nut; tn 1 J <.:;: 

·• 
a contest for it, but · I must say that once :l:t: bu<.:2."h.. a co. ·li<e.st;, I · 

a go'"'d w.2.ny people. I remember, fo.c c~.2·rrr>J e.. :.knu i r)~: .-io:rd~n f 

North Caroli11.a spent a good part ·of' his Chr1.st..ine.s holidays th2.t year 

on t he telephone Harking to genc:cate sul'porii for m;-r appcnntment. 

Q. One point, Mr. ·Nu.rpJ:iy--Jche co1werco.t:ton uith Sc.:;.~cn~cn a.s to ym.n.• 

interest. Did he indicate at t hat. ±ime e..ny of. the conside:rations, 

other than purely political consi derations, that entered into the 

President's nrlnd--or the minds ·of the Presic1:cnt' s ·staff -··regarding the 

ldnd of person, the kind of b ackground required. by the job o~'· Under 

Secretary? 
i 

· A. · Not very much. I do recall t hat t he President hoil. some concern because 

the nevr Secretary of' AgrictLltuxe w·e.s going to 'De a la:try·e:r '1-rithout Bny 

particular agr icultura ;L bach:ground. . To also have an Under Secretary 

-vrho •-ras a 1m;ycr i·rithout any particular n.gric"Luturo,l back(;'l·ound >las a 

cause of concern to him. Bu·t I gather he decided other i'actors out-

weighed this particular problem and it is t::c 1c and wu.s ~hen, uhcther 

it was talked about or not , t hat the kind. of expm:~ten.ce thaCi is usef '1 

in this job is a t l east as much ·the kincl ;you get in Hashj u~ton in 

Government a s it i s a t echnical proficiency :Ln agJ·iculture. 

Q,~ · It has been sugges t ed that t he President ma;y have evm1 he,d in nd.nc.I: - Le 

f act t hat he Hanted the l eadership of the Ag·dcultu:ee Dep•trtment to 

be in t he hands of people vlho w·ere no·t ~~cdcloJ to <my r.-n.:~. ticulo:t· school 

· t' t uho \Jure ru.' t ~ up . 1 .u .• l tl , • 

t 
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A. I have no actual knovTlr:ge of thut.. I can only ..:m. i;;c Umt tl~ ..• t 
----·-·· 

is probably the cane,'·. 

Q. One other question at this point~ Had you known Orville F'reem.:"l.ll 

previously, before you ~cam.e so closely allied 1'Tith h:i.m irL this 

Department ? ! • ~ 

A. I had, but not· very 1-rell. I had seen him in l.Unneoota several 

Q; 

A. 

times >·Then I had traveled tr.t.rough there vith PresiU.ent •.rruman--usually 

on poll tical trips. I had seen him at the Democra:\;ic convention in 

Los Angel es in 1960 e There vras a room back of t he speakers ' platform ·, ·. 
\ 

that _yms not assigned to any particular purpose, juat for people'to 

use from time to time--he insists he does not remember this s-to:..y, 

but it's t rue-- I happened to -vr~nder in ·~his room 't'Then he was sitting 

there working on his nominating speech for Senator Ken_Tledy, I sat 
! I 

there 1'Ti th him for a \'lhile, and finally he asked if I'd lea-;-e him 

so he could work on his speech. When. he was making th:i.s speech on 

teleprcmpter the teleprompte:r 9roke dcwm. Hi thout ar,.y 1v~.rning he 
' I 

had to go off' the cuff, -vrhi.ch he did ~xtremely .ivell. 
I 

I also happened 

back in this same room shortly after he finished delivering this 

speech, and he 1·1as sitting there still ·trying to recover from the 
I 

shock of having the teleprompter go dead on him • 

Hhen >·rere you sworn in--when did you actually take over the . job? 

As I recall, I vras actually Slrorn in someth11e j,n I.farch 1961, but J 

·began work very shortly after the 20th of Je.nuary as a cons1.1l.tant, 

I guess:. on a day by day basic. I actually perfor11ed de facto tbe 

authorized--to sign papers as Undn· Secr~t; :ry. 

'· 



_.:.> 

. ' 

. . :.} 

---- ----~. 

l •.• 

Q. During those first .days of the :Kennedy e.clninistration at least -Gl·ro 

A. 

... .-----
·i 

important things occurred that I ce..n :recal~L ~'he&e t7o importl'mt 

things happened involving t {le ,Department of Il.gricul~ure and ap~icul­

ture generally. One ·uas t he P;t·esident 1 s executive . order on f uod 
.. 

distribution. The other was the a.liaost record breaking ·presc.ntatiml: 
,. 

passing, and signing of the emergen~y feed gra:l~: 'J:;dll. These 1appear 

to be .the President's first offici~ acts rolatirig t o ag:t.icult~e. '". 
; ' ' • • • -· • fo -. 

. vlould yau. like to elaborate on theni, tl'l.e circumstances'· 'the. events 
•! 

. ' 
1rhich surrounded_, these acts? ..... .-.-.. r .\ -.... 

. ' . 
I don't have a great deal of first-hand lmovd.edge . abou·t; themo 

.,_ ~ .· \v .. ! -·:.' 
I 

·, 

'· 

think Secretary Freema-n ~ras largely'' respons~ble and ~p.strumental :in 

connection w:i. th getting, the execU"~ive ·. 9rde~ . on ·food signed. ' so promptly; 
; ~-

. . . . .~.- . . 3--~-- ··Y· ~ . , ~ 
I believe also that this ties ba.ck t o a pro..~se t he President had 

- ~ . -- . . . ' . ::. .. 
J ~ 

made -vrhen he 'iqas campaigning in \rl~s·t; Virgfnia 'that if he -~rere 
. • . • .:, ' ". I ;: "" ~- ~' 

. : ~ . '- . . - .... 

elected, he would do something a9out prov.tding.more and better food 
. . ' .... -~ ''-:~ .;... . ~' . 

for needy persons. The feed grain :progr~, I 'th;ink we could say, 
:t'.:, .. ;'·• 

I . . ! ' I ... >' • ..; .- ~ ~ i ~ 

was really a most remarkable achievement ·· both in ·its -conception,. and in 
,T 

getting it passed ·by the Congress.· . I think that Willard Cochrane 
• • ,_ l • ... . 

'i . 

had a great deal to do vrl th the conc~ption . pf the · :p~ograrn', :- . .[(nUmber 
••'!"'. ! ·' ,, 

of f ar.m leaders , kind of an ad hoc 'advisb!Y cmmuttee, ,rere 'culled 
·,. 

to come in. I r emember the Secretary personally got on·. the :phone 
: . 

and called them~ got them here in a v~ry, very shor~ period of tine. 

They w·orked on ,this :plan l•rith Dr. Cochrane and . t he proposal i'laS: 

submitted to the Secretary • . He adopted,it ; a;pproved it, and l'e'com-
1 .. 

mended it to the President. He in t1.n~.n e.doptcd and a)_JJ!.t'OvGd it, 

... 
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( 

e..nd it \·rent to the C!ongJ.~eos lihe-'~ .the becret~.l'Jf punhc ::t.'i.; q•.1i t · 
-~· 

vigorous~-. It had 'a remarkable succeus ~.J.nu. was, as I rec;e.ll, · 

t he first major p i ece of leci:::lat:i.on pe.Gsed in the Km nvly c.drl:Lnis­
. I 

t ration. 

Q. Novr, in tl:ie::Depal'tment worlr. since the early days of t he Kennedy admi11-

istration, you have had a maj or role in t he development-and shapiHg . . 
of farm programs and agr icult ul'al l egi slation. I 'tvonder if you would 

l:i,ke to ex:press your impress i ons of tho. general attitude of ~he 

President and his\ immedi ate staff t m·ra.1·d agr:i.~ltural· problems 
l l-. 

generally? 
I . 

It ha s been suggeste that his rnm background, the urban 

nature of the state he representecl i n Congress, dian•t gi ve h im 

as keen an interest ' or deep an i nsight in t he probl ems of .Aluerican 

agriculture as he had into ot he:r problems ? 

A. Hell, he did not have as :mttch detailed.lm owledge about agricultural 
. ' . 

I I · 

programs and agricultural problems as he did ·in s ome ot her f iel ds. 
J ~ i: ,I ' . • 

I think he understood the pr~ncipal issues, and . perhaps b ecause he 

i·ras not so cluttered up vrith. detaile4 .knowledge, ·-vras able t o arrange 
~·· 

t he pr:i.ncipal issues in a more orderly and meaningful f ashion thaD 

some people 't'rho -vrere more intimately i nvolveo. -vrith the · ~~bject • . 

I think he did have a deep under standing of the basic issues i n t he 

field of agriculture, ·of the problew~, t he people in agriculture, 
J 

a generally sY11l:pathetic attitude • . · I tl1i?1.k he had s omething of o.ri 

uncomfortable ' feeling about his l ack of _detail ed knowledge of the 
I 

fi eld. This seemed to be the case f rom time t o time~ 

His per sonal staff \'Jar.: . p:tetty mt1eh oricnto<l :tn the aumc ,,<J.,y hr.; 

-vras. Mike .Feldman 1·ras t he an he desic;nated to be a ldnd of specicl­

ist in agri cult ural matters. l!e trorked :rather clo.·ely 1iith him a:il 

u uriug the Kermedy &dmini:;t..L,~~, ~1011. 

I 



/ 

r 
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From tir.t'.lZ to tir~e:, as is US'L:...l.l e .. u. .t,:c.·o._..:r, d:i..L':t\:.:.t .. ll ..:.., v.r nc. 
'· 

" 

departments of the govermnent , inelu.ding tb.c Council of r.cun .;::i.e 

Advisers, and the Bureau of' the j3ud[~Ct. As I reeo..ll, v:,i.thout exet.p-

tion uhe:n these issues vrere not resolved by agreement v.nd had bo ue 

taken to 'the President for decision and the Secretary took a strong· 

stancl, tl1e P".c~side,nt supported. t!J.e Secl--ct.a:cy of Agriculture~ Some-

times he did it in just those terras: "Hell, I'll go along vdth my 
! 

Secretary of Agriculture." 
\ 

Q. Could you give us one example of this kind? 

A. Not 1vithout refreshing my recollection. I remem'ber distinctly seeing 

it happen more than once sitting · in the Pres:tdent' s office. 

Q. During this period you did perhaps have an OIJ.J?OrJ·l.mi ty to meet and 

consult with the President in your capacity as Under Secretary a 

number of times. Vlould you like to ex-panel on that a little bit in 

terms of the impressions you got or the m·gency o:f the matters you 

1vere discussing--the general attitude of -the President. 

\·Jell, I uent fairly often l·iith . the .Secretary to see the P-resident. 

I don 1 t recall whether I vent i'r'l thout the Secretary to see· the Presi-

dent except to Cabinet meetings or the mee·'·ings called by the Prcsi-

dent when the Secreta.:j:'y i•ras out of tmm. · 
' . 

T..t1e P'resident ~-ras a man 1·rith a quick m.i.ncl, with ~1. vast a.mm:mt of' 

information, a very rapid l'eader.--I tl ink a. Vf;;..•"Y p:rcctical man. I 

did not know him at all well at the beg:i.r.m:ing of his . ao.ministration .. 

T cot to 1mou him better d.tLr:ill'' hiG vc1.min:tn i,;rn,U.c.m, and ha.d an ln-

creasing~ {;l'l"eat . respect and admiration for him as an individmt.l, 

and aa Pres:i.dcnt. .. 
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Q. It's been sc:;,id more, than once tbo.t the 1\.emJ~,:;dy w rti niu ~.,;r; uL."' 0.1 l c. _ 
.. 

mm special techlliql'ie for cleal:Lng 1·r.i.t..h pro'blcms oi' pror:r:nm de.: ._1 !~ tt 

in a someuhe.t different -vray than other ad.mi:ilLlt.~ u:t.ion..;. Did -rou !:..?. 

an op:po:ctunity to evalmite or apiJ::.'ainc uhat you night mtll tl1~ rt ;:xlt'-·~ 

operandi of the Kennedy adminiEtratiuu--hou ideas originated o,ncl ct 

f'orila:rd and 'llCrc t:r·anf.llo.ted into o.ct:ton in the field of ag:r.·i LULur~t 

A. Hell, not in the f'icl<l of' !3-griculture. Hhat I ues about to ::::n.y uo.E, 

that I did form some impressions of the operations of the Executive 

Office and its relationship to the departments and agencies 5.n the 
\ 

Executive Branch of' the government. · IvJy impression wac tha.t it opero.t. .d 

to a very considerable extent on a -personal 'basis as dist:inguichba L'c· :1 

an i nstitutional basis. 

A question that has been of considerable interest to me, sine~ T 

-vrorked at t he 'itThite .:House, is the extent.to 1;-rhich the ltlh'ite Hou"c is 

o1·ganized as an institution. It see.l!led to me, for example,. that i _ 

the EisevJ1o1-rer .adlninistration, particularly in t..he early da.ys > it I< N.:; 

over-orga:n.ized. The President did not have enough: to do w'i th lihat 

1i€mt on in the President's office. It seemed. to me that in the K ·i.• 1edy 

administration perhaps it 1·ras a little bit too much clj spe..:·scJ.. 'i'n'-' 

Prcs:ident's relationships 1-rith individualltlcwbers o:e hie st·f..:'--tl' .. 

is the t;Tay he handled many problems, 1rorking on them p<.:!rBunally wi ... 1. 

different members. of his ·ataff. If he had not 1Jecn an e,:G:t.'Cb-ly .. o. ~ 

man, and a prodigious uorker, it seems to me he could not hr>,vc.; kept· 

the uork going on that basis l1ecause without ho.vlng .the :fl01v of ;ro ... 
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it is a fact, thougl?-, that it 'l"Orked extr .m0ly wcJ 1. \rfl1ether Ol' not 

I think it l>TaS orgadized, it 1·1~rked e:x.trem.tly vrell, which ig :p \:chaps 

the best test of a system. ;He had. some extremely· able people on his 
' 

staff and this h d a lot to do i'lith maldngit 1-mrk. 

Ip the field· of agriculture the normal and tradit:Lonal channels 

1·rere followed pretty "VTelJ., I th:lnk, RecoiiiDlf>ndations 1·rent to the · 
:\ i 

Executive Offices of the President, through the Bureau ·of the Budget 

not only i n connection "Vrith appl;opriations, but i1 connection -vrith 
I -, .) 

legislative progr(llll~. 1 The regular legisla,tive clearance ma_chinery io 

operated by the Bureau of the Budget for the 'President.· This talces 
.. ' 

care of the routine legislatio _ uhich numer~cally, of course, is. the 
• .. 

I . . ,· 

big majorit y . On major program issues, the President would ask for 

recommendations from the~ecreta~y of Agriculture from time to tliae and_ 
,. \ . ~ . . . 

particularly in the fall of each year, lvhe~_ the administration's program 

fox the next Congress mls being made up~ ·The program recommendation.3 
. . : ! . 

'"ere considered py the White House staff, i•rho regularly got co:wm.ents 
i . 

. - i . 
from the Bureau of the Budget and Council of Economic Advisers as th~y 

should have, . and by and large thel·e 1ras ·. agreement among the staff· agcnch. 1 

a."'ld the Department of Agriculture. Occasionally 'disagreements dcvel-
, 

oped .. that i·rere sharp enough ::md p~.-.~.·sietE- nt enough that they harl to ue 

taken to the President for dec:tsion. This is the 1·ray it is supposed. 
. I 

to 1-rorls::, and did. 

Q. Knovring that you have been o, r~e.mber of t1,ro administrations one can't 

avoid asking questions as _to nhetlH:r or not any comparisons or differ-

'i 
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A. Well, there are differences. I'm not sm·e l1m·r good of a position 

Q. 

I am in to judge -Gb,\';;m because · I'm in a different place . in th:i.D . 

a¢lministratj.on. · I don't believe I vTOtlld be · prepL:ced at t his time 

to generalize about that very much. I w·as, of course, much closer· 

to President Truman.. His personality' , of course, was different .them 

President Kennedy's, but I suspect there \vas more similarity thit"'l 

most people would, think offhand ~ ·, They both w·ere quit~ decisive men 

-v.rhich a President has to be. .·' i. ! ' 

., 

Sometirr1es I gather that Presidents have to be prepared to nwUte un-

plea:sant decisions as well as pleasant ones? : ., 
·! .. 

A. That's right. President Tru.man; ~vhen he had a s'erious or hard de:.. 

cis ion to make would first determine hovr much time he had in . 't·rhich 

to :ma..'ke it, and t hen he vmuld. see· how much information he could get 

on the subject, hm·i much advice , he , could get on the subject , and 

then he rrould make the decision on that basis , as . best he c'ould. He 

was not given to looking backtvard particularl.y t o worry about 1Jfhether 
.. I , .; . . , . 

or not 1he had mad.e the right decision. ·- Bu·t li~e ~reside:t;t~G Kennedy., 

h e had a vast background in the field of government, ~ vast aJ.'!l?tmt of 
\ ~, I 

l<.nowledge about the problems an~· abo-G.t . the issues. ±-\ thi~..k it. is true 

of both of these men that they ha~ settled many many ~ssues in ;~their 

mm minds over a period of years in the ·Congress, and when these 

issues carne up again they pretty \'Tell knew how they felt about thertt. 
' , 

Q,' ~\Tould you like to recall just a little bit about the shaping ·Of .the . . 

agricQl tural pr ogram? .,. 

A. Hell, before 1ve get to tlw,t, r.;i.ncc 1irc'rc t nJJdnc; abou·t; President 

Truman and President Kennedy, I r;Iight ·tell thin little s-tory·. In 

., 

r 

I 
i 

r 

I 

! • 
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September 1963, you' 11 ,recall Congress had. under consideration a tax 
' 

bill--a tax reduction l:lill--that h~d been recommended by·President 

Kelli.iedy and was a cardinal :poin:t in his legislative program. 'l'his bi:U 

i;ould have provided for a . very substant.ia]. reduction i n t axes. About 

the time that the administration hoped to get this bill reported out. by 

the Hays and Means Committee in the House, President Truman, v1ho vras i n 

Neu York City, vras r~orted in the new-spapers as having said th,at he 

t hought there ought not to be a ta.x cut until the budget was balanced. 

The -budget viaS not b~lanced, and it was not anticipated t hat iJG WOuld 

be before this tax cut was made. · • 

I got a call about .this--first Iheard about it- -from Ted Sorensen, 

as I :tecall, late one morning. Within an hour or t w-a· after that, I got 

a call from President Kennedy abdut it, and he was quite sorry that this 

had happened. I He wanted to lm~w . if . there i~S· anything ·~hat could be done 

about it. He and I agr eed. finally that I 1rould go to Ne'i'r York to see . 
' '. 

President Trmnan to see if anything ci:mld be done about it. Secretary 
' . . . 

Freeman vras out of town at the time. Right away I called. President 
I 

Tru:m.an on the phone, made a date to see him i n 'New York--actually, I believe, 

I was not able to get llim on the phoneb so I l eft \vord ·14i th his son:..i ri-lavr, . 

Clifton Daniel, to tell him that I ~vas " com:lng. I got on a plane and flev 
' 

up, getting there l ate in the afternoon. I vrcnt to his hotel and >mited 

. Wltil he came home. I talked t o him for . an hour ·~or t'i-m: and the~1 C'd.lllC 

back and made a report to President Kennedy in the form of·a. memorandum 

dated September 10, 1963--it might be just as convenient if I rcr"erred to 

it. He asked me t o teil Presi dent Ke:tlnedy: 
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1. He's t erribly ,sorr'J he made the remark. 
~ ~---

" .,· . 
2. He ·wants to help President Kenned.y all he can and ~vouJ.c1 

I 

not for the vror ld int~nt :i,.onally do a11yt~hing . to embarrass 

him or injure his progrs..m. .; 
''':.<-

3. ,The comment in question 11Jas riot planned, but ·just poppecL . .-
.: . ·., -:-, 

out in reply to a question of a newspaper reporter. '-
' . 

4. This is a nla'tter of conviction with President ';r.'rtum1n · ~md 

he cannot take it bach:. . .; . 
y . ;·· • 1'' I' . -

-~; ""-~! ;. t:, 
·,· .,, 5. He '>vould k~ep quiet on the subjec;;c in the· future. . '· .. ' 

'· 

, ...... 

•. .i~y ~-

.·~· ' . ;. • . - I I ' ' 
6. · And finally, he 1vould i'Tri te to Presid~nt ~erl?edy '1vhe!! ~e -

·' 
··got home. 

. .; 

Hmv, incidentaJJ.y, after President Kenn;~y' s d~ath, :not very .. lorig . a~f'te~ ~-· ' 

that, President Johnson sent me to see :r:r:esident Truman. In 'the c~urse, .. ' 
. > 

of rey visit 1-rlth him, the question of' the tax ·cut ~am; up ~~ain (you wi_ll;,-':. _ 
' ... ' _;,' . .. : .-.. . "-~- ', ,_ . .'•'. . _- ·'_}~·--i. --~- . ~ ~-..... 

recall this >vas finally enacted after· President Kennedy's ·tleath). : · Pre_~i- 'r ·.· 
. ;~ ..... ~ 

dent Truman's position on this matter ~1~'s'- stiii _the 
1 s~e, t;tnd h~ ~ras .. ,stfl;i. -:.:, . 

·- l 

willing to keep quiet about it. 
... ~ . 

''· ., ..•. 

Q. During the early years of the Kennedy Presidency, .the Department · 

culture vras heav"ily involved in the affairs of Billy Sol . E~tes, -vrhich ·'~, 

became something of a national c~use celebre. ~Jould ·you like t 'o,·talk '· . ·· 
-.- . --... -- ~ 

, .i . · . · I 
just a little about the situation and your pEl,rt in it, particularly.' your· 

. testimony on the Hill? I .• I~. 

A. · I'd be glad to, :pa1~ticularly as it relates to President Kennedy and i n 

this case the Attorney General, Bob Kennedy. Fir~t, - in t he re@llar course 

of my business;~ I had a number of routine contact s 'I·Tith Billie Sol Estes, 

11ho at thutt;iJrLu; accordJtJg to oJ.l thfol :I.ni'orme:L:ton we had,' ·Has a completelY' 

respectable and highly respected citizen of Texas. . 1'lhcn it. devc,l~pecl·. · 

,,. 

., J 

I 

r 
i 

r 

! 
! 
'· r: 

-· 
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later on that he "V.ras not the ldnd o:t; 1nan vTe though-t he was 3 there 
'• --- .. "' 

vms, as you .lmmr, a ·:·considerable inves·t;igation of his affairs, :i.ncludillg 

the dealings he had had >'lith the Department of Agr.icu.lture. 
. 

In a very early stage of these investigations vre invited the De-

partmept of Justice _to send the FBI into the Department; of Agricuiture 

and investigate thoroughly and completely every lead no matt~r.where 

it might tr!"..ke them, from the bottom to the · top of the: Departlnent of 
. ' .-

; . 

Agriculture. The FBI did this. We were investigated quite completely . 
·' : 

Incidentally, according to my recollection, I personaily 'was ipter-' . 

vie1·red by the FBI 13 times in connection' with this. matter. Also the 
. . ' 

Attorney General made available to the Department of Agriculture ,, 
:{ ' 

attorneys in the Department including one Assi~tant Attorney General · 

who helped to get to the bottom of ai+ the leads in this case~ 

Because of this, the Department of Justice and the Attorn~y 

General, and, I'm sure through him, the. President,' were . thoroughly 

·, -

familiar 1-rith the things that had • happened in the Department of. Agri:- . · 
!~ • 

'·' ' -~ •. .., • ''l 

culture,including any part that I h~d-J:iad in: the ; ~i-axi'sactions .-:'!ith ' . 

Estes. 
• ~ :~' . ' :<. " ,/• ·.~, • .-·. 

T think in this case that the · Ken..11edys ' did just wha·i;; · they 

should have done . Nmr remember they did . not lr..nmr me very weu·;·pe'rson-

ally. In fact, they had every reason to look carefully, thoroughly, 

and objectively at the facts :to see the extent1if any,to vrhich ·' I . · 
) . 

might be involved in these Estes matters • . Having looked at th~ facts~ 

they found that I had not done anythi~g that was subject to criticism. 

Having fo1L11d that, they supported me completely and fully during t he 

investigation of this matter by the S.enate Committee. For e:~w.mple, I 

r e:m'::lllbe;:c )uw.t the clay before I Ha:; to t3Q up to t cotify fi.rst;, ·the 
1 . • • • 

Attor ney GeneraJ. called me on the telephone and said: ·"Charlie, r.~ :. 

I 
I 

I 
r 
L 



( 

just \'rant you to lmovr before you go up there .to testify that ·1·1e Lnc.IIT 
.. -; 

you're all right! 11 imd I said to him, "Thank you, Bob·, I'm gJ ad to 

lmmr it!" Then after I testified, the Presi(lent himself called me 

o:-:1 the phone and congratulated me on my testimony • He said that 

he thought I had made a vex"Y :fine presentation. That's all that · curs 

to me on· this. 

Q. So as far as . you P1ow, the '!'Jhite House has been completely satisfied 

with the outcome of the DepartmeEt 1 s he,ndling of the Estes matter, 

and of your ov.m part in it? 
\ 

A. T'h~Y- seem to be completely satisfied with w:y part in it. Incidentally, 

Q., 
! 
I 

the then Vice-President, nmr Presj_dent Johnson, complimented me quite 

highly from time to time after that about rrry testimony before_ the 

McClellan committee. For soin.e reason the analogy that occurred to 

him -vras Mickey Mantle, anci for several ~cimes after that he ·wou~d see 

me and say something about Mickey Mantle! · ·I 

How, l1Jr. Under Sec~eJvary, 't•rhat 't'Ta.S the last time that you cari ··recall_ 

seeing President Kennedy, and ·what vrere the circumstances? 

A. r do recall. Secretary Freeman and I vrent t.o see him on the 20th 

of November 1963 about reg;uJ.ar business of the Department of Agricul­

ture. Our appointment vrith him uao about the middle of the day. , ' 

lJhen >re had concluded the discussion of our regular business lvith him, 

he spoke of tvro matters ;,rhj.ch seemed to me to be of :particular ipterest. 

The firs t i·ras a reference to the Kennedy Rmll1d .of trade negotiations. _ 
' 

\-Je had been having prior to that, and still a!re ha~ng, considerable 

difficulti:cs w:tth the Uononon. Jl.-la.rket in conncct:t.on --vlith these negotia-

tions--real doubt if they ua.nt to usc thc~;c 
1 
negotiations to libcrt lizc 

international tre,de. 'lrlwsc di:t'.f:i.cultics l1avc tried the patience of .. 
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all the government of:ficials -vrho have been concerned vrith these matters 
'· . ,. --

and President Kennedy~ of course·~ -vras paying. a great deal of attentioi1 · 

to these trade negotiations p~rsonallY. 

A. At the conclusion of our discussion President Kennedy said some things. ' .. :-·",'\ ·' 

l ., that lve:re somevrhat surprising to me and, I t hought, of S\lffici~nt . 
• .f I 

significance so that not very long after his de~th I vrrote . a memorandUm :: , 
; .... 

to President Johnsoo reporting what p-.r.esident Kennedy had said .on 

November 20. It >·ras, · first, tha t President Kennedy -vnis-..-to us.e h:i,s 

1-mrds--not so stuc1\: on the Kennedy 'Round ~ of negotiationf..l a.nd that if~:, ·.·, 

we could not get a good bargain out of the Kennedy Round of negotiations. 
·: i ·.~ < .. 

he thought l·re should make no bargain at all • . 

Second, he vronderecl if vTe had not :made a. ndstai,te in encom~aging 

the creation of the Common Market in t he begi:r.Jling • 

And third, he thought it :probably ~vas fortun:at~ for us that Britain 

had not gotten into it •. 

These thoughts -vrere, I think, some~qhat divergent ·from what had ·· ·. 

been the ~in current of thought itiithin the Adniini.s;t1~ati.on until quite 

recently and that is why I thought tl':iey vrere, and· ~till think they ax~ , 

of particular significance as i ndicating the frame of mind that F-cesi-

dent Kennedy had reached after going through some years of these 

difficult negotiations. 

·., 

One other thing t hat, I think, thrmrs some light on his personality ••• . 
. · ._ . 

As vre -vrere leaving , the President said to Secretary Freeman · a.nd me that 
I 

"~iTe should wait a minute because he had something he v1~nteci. to show us. 

He uent into the next room which uas the office of his personal secrc-

tary' Mrs .• Lincoln' and crone baclr. Hi th a c15.!JJ:)ing fro~ the lifCIT YOl'k 

Times of that day, or the day befm:e, j_u i·rhich it happened that tb.e,;re 

' . ' 
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1vere ti·m articles j'y.st right next to each oth~r . The headJ_ine of 
4' . _/ __ ; .. ~ . . _. l: . 

the first said "Cash Dividends Setting A R~cord Pace" and then there 

were a number of specific i~stances where leading corporo.tions were · 
I ' . .· : . > 

declaring extra di v"'idends' spli tti~g up stocks ; and things of that ::· -~ ~-
' • •.: 

kind • . And then in the adjoining column ~ras .an article headed "Economic 

Policy of the U. S. Assail ed;" and Speakers at Foreign Tr?-de Parley ... 

Voice Dissents." A'!ld then the body of that t ext t old about ho-vr va:dous . 

people in the business vrorld were atts.cking the economic policies '·of , .. 

the Administratiop , So, here we had something that in my experienc~ -

' -
is not unusual, i ncidentally, that the business world is attac,king 

the Democratic administration at the same time they
1 
are enjoying 

' ! 
' ..:.-. ~: 
'' 

unusual prosperity. 

Q. Tne President very definitely found this amusing ~1d this is _why he 

called it to your attention. _ J 

A. That's right. He -vras laughing about it, and' :-;vanted to share hi.s fun -

with somebody. 

Q . Hell, now, before we close off, Mr. Murphy, .I'd like to ask you just . 
•'.· 

' ' . 
in general if there's anything you want to add i n the w-a:f of special. , . -.. ,. 

-calls from the White House or any emergency situations that might 

have occurred--

A. I don't think of anything that 1-muld not- be reflectea. pretty ' -vrell , i n '' 
y. 

the files. The President did call me on the phone from time ·to ' time 

for miscellaneous reasons. I don't remember any special calls , any _ 

special reasons that he called me. 

Q. 1-lould you like to say a vrord about the cabinet meetings that you 

attended~ 

.. 
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A. Hell, I did attend ce.binet meetings from time to time vJhep Secretary. - / ~ 
! ' .;,.. 

Freeman "ras absent fr'om V.lashingto~ .' I don't; recall tht?-t there were · 

any of unusual significance. There "rere a number of them where 
. ~ . :- II; 

. ,. ....... -. 

budget matters were discussed, ~ihere the legislati~.re :program ~vas dis- : '' . I 

. -· ''· 
cussed. I remember one vrhere the tax bill was discussed, in particular; 

and where the President indicated that the passage of the tax reduction ·, .,:· .. ~ 

bill Hould be a very major item in his ,legislative program and he .. 

wanted everyone in the Executive Branch of the government to give 

support to the effort to get it passed ~y Congress • 
' 

Q. In your judgment the Cabinet meetings wer'e mainly focused on broad 

questions of policy, I suppose. 

A. In my judgment, based not only on the Kennedy adm.i.nistration but on 

the Truman and Johnson administrations as well and v¥hat I know about -· 

others, Cabinet meetings are largely ceremonial occasions. It · is 

most too large a group to really come to grips 1-rith important problems 

and actually reach decisions. In recent years another group has been • 

established that to a considerable extent, I think, replaces the ·cab..:. 

inet in national security matters and perhaps foreign affairs matters 

as i·lell. This is the National Security Council. It is about the same 

size, I believe, as the cabinet and there's a considerable amount of . 

overlapping. But there's not complete duplication. Some Cab1net 

".· ;;.,. 

- ·.;t~ -... r;~ 

.. :- . 
. , . _r 

members are not on the National iSecurity Council and some members .of the ' 

National Security Council are not members of the Cabinet. President 
I 

Kennedy did use the Cabinet from time to time to get ~xpressions of 
•·. \/ 

vie1\rpoints from mcmb ·rG of the Cabinet. Co:rtolnly no ma jor decision 

-v;as made on the basis of discussion at any Cabinet meeting that I 

attended. .. 
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Q. So the business of t:g.e various depart mentf1 and agerl~ies of the Gu\rer u 
., 

ment :v,rhich require Wi~ite House decision is conducted not thrmi.gh "l-:he 

instrument of the Cabinet me~ting but t;hrough t he instrument of t he 
' -.. 

vfni te House staff and--

A. And special meetings. NOi..r, I have been to--al though t he Secret ary of .. . 
Agricul tu.re and the Department of Agri culture are not r e:preso1;1ted on . '· 

the National Secu.r:i!ty Council--we ·have been repr esented at special 
' ~ ;: ... ; 

meetings that :the President called from time to t ime. to. consi.der speci al .. 

problems o One, fqr example~ "tvas the sale of wheat to the Russians • . · 

You remember this vras an active question in the · f all of 1963. In . this 
<·. 

\ . · 

case the President did cB,ll in a number of Cabinet members, a number 

of agency heads that are not Cabinet members and had a rather lengthy . 

and full-dress discussion of this question going into t he pros and cons, ',·. :: '~' 

the implications and, I think, to a considerable extent he 'did use 

this meeting as the occasion t-rhen he made up · his mind as to 'tvhat . to 

do about it. I think this was a meeting where he actually reached a .. . ·,_ .. ~-

I . -~-

decision to go ahead and authori ze the sale of 'tr.rheat to the Russians. · , 
... =~ 

It. lasted more than an hour, I think. Perhaps as much as bm hours. 

,. Q. There \·rere other occasions of this kind \!There he would on a specific 

'' 

I'~ 

question call-- •. 

A o 'Ihat is true. Nmv is this case members of his White House staff, 

people in the different Departments that were interested--the State 

Department, the Department of Agriculture, the Department of Commerce, 

the Treasury Department, had given a lot of s tudy to this question. 

Tne staff vrork 11as pretty well complet ed a.nd had been quite extensive. 

So it 1·ras. ready and ripe for a Presidenti al decision . He had been 

'• 

·,. 
I 

.·' 
"•' 

~ ·, . 



aware of the staff 1·rork as it was t;oing on. JJrl.n ".rat; not e, completely 

neu and fresh questio¥1 ,to him at that time. So this was, I think , the · 

normal, orderly and proper v-ray for a Presidential ded.sion of i mportance 

to be made. You have this cullnina:ting process where :the staff work is 

brought together, the issues are laid out for the President for his· 

final revieu and he malJ:eS t he decision, arid in this case did. 

Q. vlas there dissent among t he various people at the table at this partie-
. ' . 

ular meeting? vlere there several poiJ?.tS of view· ·expressed, or vras the 

general consensus that <·re should do .it? 
.. , 

· A. My recollection is that there was general agreement on the main propo-

sition. There vere perhaps different points of vim·r expressed by sub-

sidiary questions. But I don't recall that anyone recommended against 

the sale of the I<Theat to the Russian.s. There 'tvas more doubt about the 

Congressional reaction and the Congressional acceptance of this than 

anything else t hat I recall. I believe . there vas no division ofopinion 
. . 

about the merits of the question. And I think it v-ras generally agreed 

and accepted that the overriding consideration should be ·the effect .on. 

the·:foreign policy of the United States ~ That is , · foreign policy con­

sideration \·ras put ahead of purely economic considerations. And t hir 

'vas not a decision that w-as made simply because it was a good thing 

economi cally, although it m:ts a good thing economic&lly . It did help . 

vdth the balance of pa~~ents problem. It did help ~~th the budget~ry 

problems of the United States . But the deci sion was made primari~y on 

t he basis that it would be a good thing for foreign policy reasons. 

.. 

.' . 

. . 
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Q. Y"u·. :t.l:urphy, w·ere . you :l<n '·lashington 01~. the 22nd of November, the l!..,riday . ...... -· .. 
... 

on 1·rhich President Ke:rinedy -v;as assassinated? ··· ~'Tould you t ell us a l ittle 

bit about hmv the word came to. you ::1.nd the actions that \'!'ere taken i n 

the Department by yourself and others? 

A. I was in. Hashington. Secretary Freeman vras on a plane en route to 

Japan •·rith most of the other members of the Cabinet·. I vm.s Acting 
i. . 
·' 

Secretary at that time~ I returJ?-ed from ltmch on Friday the 22nd ru:d 
.• 

after I got to my office returned a phone call that I had received 

from Ray Ioanes, t he Administrator of ·the Foreign Agricultural Serv-lce . 

\<lhen I ·spoke to him he said that he had just gotten vrord that the 

President and/or the Governor of' Texas had ·oeen shot, .and he was so upset· 

about it that he did not >vant to . talk to me about · business at that time; 

From then on vTe began, of course, to follovr very closely reports that 

came in by radio and television as to what had happened. There was a 

considerable amount of. conf\tsion, and it w~s an hour or two before it 

was definitely established in the nerlS reports· that President Ken..nedy 

had been shot and vras dead. 

I l·rondered then if firsJc 1-re should not close the Department of 

Agriculture as a mark of respect. I called the Chairman of the· Civil 

Service Commission to ask his advice on that matter. He said that he 

thought perhaps something should be done, but it should be done on a 

uniform basis throughout the Government and. he 1vould consult with some 

of his colleagues and let me knmr what we should do. He called back 

not very long after that end said it had been decided that the Govern= 

ment offices :::hould clone i•w hour s early the.t a.ay an a mark of recpr.ot 

to President Kennedy. So t he Department of Agriculture ~ras, along with 

other Government agcrtcies, closed early. 
I 

• ' 

' '· 
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During the latter par~ of the afternoc.n 1 rccei ved a call f:L·om the 
--· 

- ~· ,, 

White House asking that I come to the White House about 6:00 p.m. to 

go out to the airport to meet .the plane that 1-ras bringing the President'.., 

body back to Washington. 1 did go to the White House, and took Tom 

Hughes i·;;i th me. vie -vrent to the East Wing where w·e had been asked. to 

go and there -vrere assembling representatives from other Departments. 

Since most of the Ca"binet 1-ras on this plane on the way to Japan; most 

of ~he Departments were represented -by Under Secretaries. I r emember 
., 

' . i .. 

that Averell Harriman ivas there • . Franklin Roosevelt was there. Arthur 

Goldberg, Supreme Court Justice, came in with .Mrs. Goldberg. This group 

i·rai ted there and from time to time got reports as to the· plans for 

meeting the plane. These plans 1-rere changed from tinle to time and at 
., . 

· one Pc;>int v1e got 1mrd that it had been decided, by whom I do not know·, 

that ive should not go to the airport to meet the plane. ..Tustice Goldberg 

and Under Secretary Roosevelt left t 'o talk to someone and came baclc later 

id. th vrord that the plans had been changed again and we were to go out 

to the airport, Andrevrs Field. And -vre d:td. 'l'here 't'rere tvro or three 

helicopters that ;·;ere available and took us out. There were other 

people vrho did not have space on the helicopters t hat went by car , Tom 
' . 

Hughes was among those who drove out, as I recall:~ in the Secretary's 

car. He reached the airport before the plane arrived lvith the Presi-

dent's body in it. 

vve all >-raited there, standing outdoors on the ramp at the airport. 

The plane did arrive vri th President Kem~edy' s body, Iv"ms. Kennedy, 

President and Mrs. Jolmson on t he plane. , The casket 't·rith the Prcoidcnt' r3 

body 1·ms taken off the plane . Le:Ger President and Mrs.. Johnson got off 

,.., 
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the plane, .spoke to a f€:u pc , ilc in the gHYLt_CJ, and he w ... du a ln';lt.,;!;( 

stateme:n_t at t he ah·Port~ Thcri hE\ entered ::me of the helicop"L~rs 

snd ca..i'lle back. to Washington. Otu· t,'l'OU:p re·L..urnec1 to Uashington in 

helicopters, as I recall, and went to the l•n1ite House a c1 from there 

\·rent home . 

L'1 the me:OJntimc, t his plane with the Cabinet members on it ha<:l 

been turneo around, was returning to Uash:i.ngton · and it reached lmdre'ii.::> 

-Field not very long after midnight that same night. il.nd Tom Hughes 

and. I -v;ent out to meet the Secretary- at that time. I don't t hink of 
\ 

' I '. f 

anything else that is not generally lmo1m in connection with this. time. 

Q.. The ne:xt day i'TaS a Saturday, and as I 1.ll1derstand it, you spen-c the da.y, 

or part of it, at the office. 

A. The next three days, I think, the Secretary and. I spent most of the 

-------- time in the office, Saturday·, Sunday, Ivlond.ay, doing wl;lat •:re could to 

.help vli th the problems we had, doing what -vrr; could to prepare for a 

transition from one President to anot:Ler . Busineos 7 very critical 

business, had to go on. Ue just had to d.o the best we could. 

(,~. Thanl\: you. 

'· 


